# MANHATTAN NURSING & REHABILITATION CENTER, LLC, ET AL.

APPELLANTS,

NO. 2007-CA-01775

IRA SIMMONS,

v.

ŧ.

ŧ.

ł

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS**

Appeal from the Circuit Court For Hinds County The Hon. Bobby B. DeLaughter Presiding No. 251-05-433 CIV

## THE LAW & MEDIATION OFFICES OF REBECCA ADELMAN, PLC

Rebecca Adelman, ##

Counsel of Record for Appellants Manhattan Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, LLC Aurora Cares, LLC, d/b/a Tara Cares, and Bobbie Blackard

> 545 South Main St., Suite 111 Memphis, Tennessee 38103 Tel., 901/529-9313 Fax., 901/529-8772 www.adelmanfirm.com

## **ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED**

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

.

ş

\_ \_ . . . .

,

÷ .

it

ı

Ł

1

-

1

1

-

## **ADMISSION AGREEMENT**

## SKILLED NURSING FACILITY

THIS AGREEMENT is made this 23 day of <u>Sept</u> , 20 <u>03</u> , by and between
Manhaftan Nursing Rehab (hereinafter the "Facility"), and Traw.Simuong, whose address is
I TAUSIMMONS, whose address is
128312 Dog Fley Dr. Jokson, MS-39211_, (hereinafter the "Designated
Representative"), for the admission of Eldellak, Simmong.
(Resident) to the Facility.

Whereas, the Facility is responsible for the operation of the nursing home including: providing and/or arranging for services listed in this Agreement; employing or otherwise arranging for the services of such personnel as is required and listed in this Agreement and complying with local, State and federal laws governing the Facility; and

Whereas, the Facility will admit a resident only upon a physician's order and will retain only those Facility residents for whom it can provide adequate care; and

Whereas, admission to the Facility is contingent upon a common understanding of the conditions set forth in this Agreement

**NOW, THEREFORE**, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

#### 1. THE RESIDENT'S AGENTS

1.1 The "Designated Representative" is the person chosen by the Resident who agrees to be responsible to assist the Resident in meeting his/her obligations under this Agreement. Unless the Designated Representative is also the Resident's spouse, the Designated Representative is not obligated to pay for the cost of the Resident's care from his/her own funds.

1.1.1 By signing this Agreement, however, the Designated Representative personally guarantees continuity of payment from the Resident's funds to which he/she has access or control and agrees to promptly arrange for third-party payment if necessary to meet the Resident's cost of care.

1.1.2 The Designated Representative shall have sufficient access to the Resident's funds and financial information to assure payment of the Resident's

obligations under this Agreement if the Resident lacks or develops a lack of capability or capacity. This access, usually granted through a Durable Power of Attorney, may be limited solely to meeting the payment and insurance obligations of the Resident under this Agreement, and may be structures to take effect in the future only if necessary to fulfill the Resident's obligations under this Agreement.

1.2. The Spouse or "Sponsor" is the person (usually, but not necessarily the Resident's spouse) who is responsible in whole or in part for paying for the Resident's cost of care. A Spouse may also serve as the Resident's Designated Representative. The Spouse's personal financial duty may be limited by the amount of his/her assets if the Resident becomes a Medicaid recipient.

1.3 The "Financial Agent" is the individual who has access to or control over some or all of the Resident's assets. A Financial Agent who does not sign this Agreement as the Designated Representative or Spouse (herein the "Undersigned' or the "Undersigned Agents") is not primarily responsible to assist the Resident in meeting the payment and/or insurance obligations under this Agreement. However, because the cooperation of a Financial Agent other than the Undersigned often becomes necessary, the Facility requires that other Financial Agents agree to help meet the Resident's obligations if so requested, to the extent permitted by their access to or control of the Resident's assets and financial information. A Financial Agent's Personal Agreement is attached to this Agreement as Appendix #4, and is incorporated herein by reference.

1.4 The Resident and the Undersigned Agents confirm and warrant that they have provided the Facility with a complete list of the Resident's current Financial Agents, and copies of all attorneys in fact (Powers of Attorney), Guardianship Commissions or other documents that authorize an agent to act for the Resident, or to have access to, or control of, any of the Resident's assets, *e.g.*, bank accounts, securities, pension, or social security payments. The Resident and the Undersigned Agents agree to inform the Facility of future appointments or revocations.

1.5 The Resident, or the Undersigned Agent (including, without limitation, the Designated Representative) and/or other legal representative(s) on behalf of the Resident, hereby direct all of the Resident's Agents, including future appointees and the Undersigned, to: (i) meet all payment obligations under this Agreement from the Resident's assets and/or from insurance coverage; (ii) cooperate with, and facilitate the process of obtaining Medicaid coverage and/or recertification if required; and (iii) manage the Resident's assets responsibly so that the Facility is paid for the cost of care from the Resident's funds and from Medicaid.

#### 2. PHYSICIAN SERVICES

2.1. The Resident and Designated Representative agree to an examination by a physician at least once every 30 days during the first 90 days following admission, and at least once every 60 days thereafter, or more frequently as required by the Resident's medical condition or by state regulations.

2.1 The Resident and Designated Representative agree to pay the cost of such physician's examination (together with any tests that, in the sole discretion of the physician are required by the Resident's medical condition), and for the physician's review of the Resident's Comprehensive Care Plan upon admission and annually, or more frequently as required by the Resident's medical condition or state regulations.

2.2 The Resident and Designated Representative agree that if the Resident's attending physician is not available, the Facility is authorized to have the Facility's Medical Director arrange for another physician to examine the Resident for the next scheduled examination, or immediately when required by the Resident's medical condition.

2.3 When the Resident's attending and/or covering physician has not examined the Resident\_as\_required by the Facility, the Resident's medical condition, or state regulations, the Facility is authorized to have the Medical Director arrange for another physician to examine the Resident within 72 hours of the date the examination was due, or immediately as required by the Resident's medical condition.

#### 3. PREPAYMENT

3.1 The Resident and Designated Representative agree to pay one (1) month of the Resident's daily rate in advance upon admission to the Facility. The one (1) month advance daily rate payment is not required if a Resident is receiving Medicare Part A coverage upon admission.

3.2 In instances where payment under Medicare Part A had been received by the Facility, the Resident and Designated Representative agree to make the one (1) month advance daily rate payment immediately upon notice from the Facility that a one (1) month advance daily rate payment is due, effective from the first day of non-coverage by Medicare Part A. Non-coverage may result, without limitation, from exhaustion of benefit days or cessation of the need for daily skilled nursing or rehabilitative services.

3.3 Upon discharge, any prepayment will be applied by the Facility to cover outstanding charges. Any unapplied prepayment will be promptly refunded to the Resident. If the Resident is deceased, refunds will be paid as required by applicable state law.

#### 4. **PAYMENT FOR SERVICES**

4.1 Charges for all services to be provided by or at the Facility are due and payable, in advance, on the first day of each and every month. Any charges that remain unpaid after the tenth day of the month for which they are due may be assessed a service charge of one percent (1%) per month, or such other percentage as may be permitted from time to time under applicable state law and regulation.

4.2 In the event the Facility refers the Resident's account to an attorney, collection agency or other third party for collection, the Resident and Designated Representative agree to reimburse, indemnify and hold the Facility harmless for any and all costs of collection, including, without limitation, attorney's fees.

1.2.1.1.1.

4.3 If the Designated Representative is responsible for making one or more required payments and the Facility refers the Resident's account to an attorney, collection agency or other third party for collection, then the Designated Representative hereby agrees to personally reimburse, indemnify and hold the Facility harmless for any and all costs of collection, including, without limitation, attorney's fees.

## 5. AGREEMENT TO PAY FOR, OR ARRANGE TO HAVE PAID FOR, SERVICES PROVIDED BY OR AT THE FACILITY.

5.1 The Resident hereby directs the Designated Representative, the Sponsor, and all other Financial Agents, to make all payments due, and fulfill all obligations under this Agreement in accordance with section 1.5 herein.

5.2 The Resident and Designated Representative hereby agree to pay from the Resident's funds, or to arrange to have paid by Medicaid, Medicare or other insurers, all charges for services provided by or at the Facility.

5.3 The undersigned, wishing to facilitate the Resident's admission to the Facility, personally and independently guarantee continuity of payment to the Facility for the cost of the Resident's care. Unless the undersigned are obligated by law to pay for the Resident's care, as the Resident's spouse may be, the undersigned are not required to use personal resources to pay for the Resident's care. Notwithstanding the preceding, in order to meet the payment obligations of the Resident to the Facility under this Agreement, the undersigned personally guarantee payment of Facility charges (including, without limitation, the basic daily rate and as outlined in sections 18 and 19 and as applicable) after any Medicare Part A coverage has been applied or exhausted, until the month in which the Resident's Medicaid eligibility covers such charges.

5.4 The Resident and Designated Representative agree that if insurance does not cover, or pays an amount less than the rate stated in this Agreement, the Resident and Designated Representative are responsible for payment of the Facility's charges (including, without limitation, the daily rate and as outlined in section 18 and 19 and as applicable). Where the Resident has insurance with which the Facility does not have a participating provider agreement and does not accept any tendered insurance payment as payment in full, the Resident and Designated Representative are responsible for payment of the difference between the insurance payment received by the Facility and the Facility's charges under this Agreement. The Resident and Designated Representative also hereby agree that the Resident shall at all times be responsible for any deductibles and co-insurance amounts, and for services that are "non-covered" services by the applicable insurance (for example, private room rate differential, beauty shop charges, etc.). 5.5 The Resident or the undersigned Agents on the Resident's behalf assigns the benefits due the Resident to the Facility and requests the Facility to claim payment from Medicare or other insurance for covered services or supplies provided by the Facility. The Resident authorizes release of information necessary for the Facility to claim and receive such payments on the Resident's behalf. A separate assignment of benefits will be signed, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and incorporated by reference herein.

5.6 The Resident and Designated Representative understand and agree that the Resident will be responsible for, and must pay the Facility's private rate from the Resident's funds during the preparation of a Medicaid application, while a Medicaid application is pending, and if the Medicaid application is denied. It is the responsibility of the Resident and the Designated Representative to ensure continuity of payment, including the responsibility to arrange for timely Medicaid coverage, if Medicaid coverage becomes necessary.

5.7 If the Resident's assets are exhausted or unavailable prior to the Resident's receipt of Medicaid benefits, the Resident and Designated Representative agree to pay the Resident's Net Available Monthly Income ("MEDICAID ASSIGNED AMOUNT") to the Facility as partial payment for Facility charges incurred by the Resident under this Agreement.

5.8 If a Medicaid application is delayed or denied, the Resident and Designated Representative agree to pay (from the Resident's funds), for services at the Facility's private pay rate. If Medicaid eligibility is eventually established and covers any period retroactively for which the private pay rate has been paid, the Facility will refund or credit any amount in excess of the Resident's Medicaid Assigned Amount paid during the covered period.

#### 6. WARRANTY OF INFORMATION ACCURACY.

6.1 The Resident and each of the undersigned (including, without limitation, the Designated Representative), each separately and individually warrant that the financial information submitted to the Facility concerning the Resident's finances is true, correct, complete and accurate in all material respects, and that there are no material omissions. The execution of this Agreement by the Resident and the undersigned shall act as an acknowledgment by the Resident and the undersigned that the Facility relies upon the accuracy of all such information.

6.2 The Resident and Designated Representative warrant and certify that the information given in connection with an application for payment under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act is true, complete and correct.

# 7. AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE INFORMATION AND PAYMENT REQUEST.

7.1 The Resident and Designated Representative hereby consent to and authorize the release of any medical or other information by any holder thereof (including, without limitation, the Facility) to the Social Security Administration and/or the Medicare Program or its intermediaries or carriers, provided that such release is made consistent with the requirements of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ("HIPAA"), as amended, and applicable state law and regulation.

7.2 The Resident and Designated Representative hereby consent to and authorize the release of any medical or other information by any holder thereof (including, without limitation, the Facility) to the professional standards review organizations-associated-with any payor (whether federal, state or private) provided that such release is made consistent with requirements of HIPAA, and applicable state law and regulation.

7.3 The Resident and Designated Representative hereby consent to and authorize the release of any medical or other information by any holder thereof (including, without limitation, the Facility) to the state Medicaid Program or its intermediaries or carriers, provided that such release is made consistent with the requirements of HIPAA, and applicable state law and regulation.

7.4 The Resident and Designated Representative request that payment of authorized benefits be made to the facility on the Resident's behalf.

# 8. OBLIGATION TO ARRANGE FOR TIMELY MEDICAID COVERAGE AND PAYMENT TO THE FACILITY.

8.1 The Resident and Designated Representative agree to monitor the Resident's resources to assure uninterrupted payment to the Facility.

8.2 The Resident and Designated Representative further agree and warrant that a Medicaid application will be timely and accurately filed so as to fulfill the contractual obligation set forth in section 6.2 above.

8.3 The Resident and Designated Representative agree to notify the Facility regarding: (a) the anticipated time when the Resident will have spent the Resident's resources to the Medicaid resource level set by the state, and (b) the date upon which a Medicaid application has been completed, and the date upon which the application was filed.

8.4 Once the Resident has been approved for Medicaid benefits, the Resident and Designated Representative agree to cooperate with the Medicaid recertification process in order to assure uninterrupted payment to the Facility, including, without limitation, the execution of a Release of Resident Medicaid Information to the Facility form (see appendix 5).

8.5 The Resident and Designated Representative understand that if the Resident receives monthly income and also qualifies for Medicaid, an adjustment in Medicaid payment may be made, and the Resident's Medicaid Assigned Amount must be paid to the Facility as part of the Resident's obligation under this Agreement (or paid as otherwise required under applicable state regulations).

8.6 If the Resident receives a monthly income in addition to Medicaid benefits, the Resident and the Designated Representative represent, warrant and agree that: (a) the Resident and/or the Designated Representative will arrange for the income payor to send the monthly income directly to the Facility; or (b) the Resident and/or the Designated Representative will deliver the Resident's Medicaid Assigned Amount to the Facility no later than the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day of each and every month.

8.7 The Resident and the Designated Representative represent, warrant and agree that if the Medicaid Assigned Amount is disputed, it is the Resident or Designated Representative's responsibility to resolve the dispute. That Portion of the Medicaid Assigned Amount that is not in dispute will be paid to the Facility on or before the tenth (10th) of each month.

## 9. **REFUND POLICY**

9.1 The Resident and Designated Representative agree to notify the Facility at least ten (10) days in advance of a request for a non-emergency discharge. In the event that the Resident leaves the Facility for reasons that are within the control of the Resident or the Designated Representative, the Facility shall retain from the Resident's prepayment, or shall, in the absence of a prepayment, charge, an amount equal to one (1) day's daily rate in addition to any charges incurred by the Resident for services furnished by the Facility.

9.2 In the event the Resident leaves the Facility prior to the end of the period covered by the prepayment for reasons that are beyond the control of the Resident and the Designated Representative, the Facility will refund any portion of the prepayment in excess of the amount due for charges incurred by the Resident for services furnished by or at the Facility.

#### **10. BEDHOLD POLICY**

10.1 In the event the Resident is discharged to a hospital and or Therapeutic Leave, the Resident's option to reserve a bed in the Facility shall be subject to the Facility's Bed Hold Policy in effect at the time of discharge, and applicable state law and regulation. The Facility shall advise the Resident and Designated Representative regarding the Facility's Bed Hold Policy and applicable state rules and regulations addressing bed hold reservations.

# 11. INVOLUNTARY DISCHARGE FROM THE FACILITY

11.1 The Facility may discharge a resident for nonpayment. Nonpayment occurs when the Resident and/or the Designated Representative fail to make full payment for Facility charges incurred by the Resident either from private funds, or through Medicare, Medicaid or other third party payor. Discharges from the Facility for nonpayment shall be in accordance with applicable state law and regulation.

11.2 In the case of a Resident who is receiving Medicaid benefits, it is the policy of the Facility that non-receipt by the Facility of the Resident's Medicaid Assigned Amount is cause for involuntary discharge of the Resident.

11.3 The Facility may involuntary transfer or discharge the Resident because the Resident poses a danger to the health or safety of individuals in the Facility where reasonable alternatives to discharge have been considered.

11.4 The Facility may involuntary transfer or discharge the Resident because: (a) the Resident's health has improved and the Resident no longer requires the Facility's services; or (b) because the Resident's health needs can no longer be met in the Facility; or (c) the Resident's urgent medical needs require an immediate transfer or discharge.

11.5 Involuntary discharge will be effected after the minimum notice requirements prescribed by applicable state law and regulation, or thirty (30) days notice if no state law or regulation is applicable (unless the health or safety of others in the Facility is jeopardized), subject to any legal rights of appeal or challenge prescribed by law.

#### 12. ADMISSION AND RETENTION OF RESIDENTS

12.1 The Facility will admit residents under sixteen (16) years of age only if space is available in a Facility area approved for such occupancy by the regulatory agency or department having jurisdiction over Facility admissions.

12.2. Potential residents in need of care provided at the Facility will not be automatically barred from admission or retention solely on the basis that they also receive treatment in an alcohol or substance abuse programs, provided, however, that the potential resident meets all of the Facility's admission criteria.

12.3 The Facility will not admit prenatal, intrapartum or postpartum, and maternity patients.

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