#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-01775

MANHATTAN NURSING & REHABILITATION CENTER, LLC, ET AL

**APPELLANTS** 

v.

**IRA SIMMONS** 

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, CAUSE NO. 251-05-433CIV

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED)

JOHN G. SIMS, III, ESQ. (MSB# SIMS LAW GROUP, PLLC 223 WEST CENTER STREET, SUITE A POST OFFICE BOX 917 CANTON, MS 39046 TELEPHONE: (601) 859-9022 FACSIMILE: (601) 859-9023

Attorney of Record for Appellee, Ira Simmons

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2007-CA-01775

MANHATTAN NURSING & REHABILITATION CENTER, LLC, ET AL

**APPELLANTS** 

v.

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mississippi law regarding contract principals and contract formation required the signature of a representative or employee of Manhattan Nursing & Rehab to establish a valid arbitration agreement as alleged by Defendants/Appellants. Ira Simmons signature on the Resident and Facility Arbitration Agreement on September 23, 2003, constituted an offer to agree to the terms of arbitration. Mr. Simmons' offer to agree to arbitration was rescinded in writing on November 10, 2006 (R. 66) by letter from his counsel before any representative or employee of Manhattan Nursing & Rehab signed and/or accepted Mr. Simmons' offer to agree to arbitration.

Furthermore, Ira Simmons did not have the authority to bind Elsie Fidelia Simmons,

Deceased, to arbitration based upon the powers vested to him by the Durable Power of Attorney
signed by Elsie Fidelia Simmons, Deceased, on January 9, 1986. Ira Simmons cannot be
regarded as a Health Care Surrogate for Elsie Fidelia Simmons, Deceased. Even under a
determination as a health care surrogate Mr. Simmons still did not possess the requisite authority
to bind Elsie to the arbitration agreement, because the arbitration agreement was not a "health
care decision."

Finally, the severability clauses found in Manhattan Nursing & Rehab's admission agreement and arbitration provision allowed Ira Simmons to pursue contractual claims for damages, while denying enforceability of the arbitration agreement. Therefore, Ira Simmons was not estopped. In addition, estoppel via third-party beneficiary status did not apply as a result of Ira Simmons signing the admission agreement.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court applies a de novo standard of review to the denial of a motion to compel arbitration because the motion presents a question of law as to whether the circuit court has jurisdiction to hear the underlying matter. *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So.2d 507, 513(¶ 9) (Miss.2005). When reviewing a trial court's disposition of a motion to compel arbitration, the Mississippi Supreme Court uses a two-pronged inquiry. *Sullivan v. Mounger*, 882 So.2d 129, 132 (Miss.2004). The first prong focuses on whether there is a valid arbitration agreement. *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss.2002). The second prong requires a determination of whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. *Id.* 

II. Whether Mississippi law regarding contract principals and contract formation required the signature of a representative or employee of Manhattan Nursing & Rehab to establish a valid arbitration agreement as alleged by Defendants/Appellants.<sup>1</sup>

With respect to the first prong of the analysis outlined above, "[t]o determine whether the parties agreed to arbitration, we simply apply contract law." *Terminix Int'l, Inc. v. Rice*, 904 So.2d 1051, 1055(¶ 9) (Miss.2004). Under Mississippi law, the elements of a valid contract are: (1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, (5) mutual assent, and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation. *Rotenberry v. Hooker*, 864 So. 2d 266 (¶13) (Miss. 2003). Ira Simmons submits that no valid agreement to arbitrate exists between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While Appellee/Plaintiff submitted this issue to the Trial Court in his Response to Manhattan's Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Trial Court's Order and Memorandum Opinion do not specifically discuss the issue. Nonetheless, this issue is central to Appellee's/Plaintiff's argument. (R. 42-52).

Plaintiff/Appellee and Defendants/Appellants. Mr. Simmons' offer to agree to arbitration made on September 23, 2003, was rescinded in a letter from his counsel on November 10, 2006. (R. 66).

As stated in *Rottenberry*, supra, one of the elements of a valid contract under Mississippi law is that it contains two or more contracting parties. It is also a requirement of Mississippi law regarding contract principals and contract formation for parties to actually come to an agreement or a "meeting of the minds." *Hunt v. Davis*, 45 So.2d 350, 352 (Miss. 1950). Enforceable contracts must have an offer, acceptance, and consideration. *Gatlin v. Methodist Medical Center*, *Inc.*, 772 So.2d 1023, 1029 (Miss. 2000). In the majority of contracts, such as the arbitration agreement in question, assent or acceptance is shown by the signature of the parties to the contract, and the mere fact that a written instrument purports to be an agreement does not make it an enforceable contract if not signed. *McInnis v. Southeastern Automatic Sprinkler Co.*, 233 So.2d 219, 221 (Miss. 1970) (quoting 17 C.J.S. Contracts §62 (1963)).

In the instant case, at the conclusion of the document titled "Resident and Facility Arbitration Agreement," there is a line for the signatures of the resident or resident's "designated representative" and a line for the signature of an "authorized representative" for the Manhattan Nursing & Rehab facility. The agreement was signed, and thus assented to as an offer, by Ira Simmons to agree to arbitrate. However, the line for the signatures of the facility's "authorized representative" is left blank. The only signature by anyone other than Ira Simmons on the arbitration agreement is a signature on the line designated as "Witness." See Exhibit "B" attached hereto. Thus, looking at the Resident and Facility Arbitration Agreement using the basic principles of Mississippi contract law, one can only conclude that the arbitration agreement

is not a valid contract due to the lack of mutual assent.

A Mississippi Supreme Court case with facts very similar to the instant case is *Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall, LLC v. Lewis*, 923 So.2d 998 (Miss. 2006). In *Bedford*, a personal representative (Lewis) of a nursing home resident challenged the validity of an arbitration agreement on the grounds that the agreement was not signed by the personal representative or the resident. Although acknowledging the strong federal policy favoring arbitration, the Court recognized that "arbitration is a matter of contract between the relevant parties; no party can be required to arbitrate absent an agreement to do so." *Id.* at 1000 (quoting *Rosenblum v. Travelbyus.com, Ltd.*, 299 F.3d 657, 662(7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002)). In holding that a valid arbitration agreement did not exist due to a lack of a signature by Lewis or the nursing home patient Ora Preston, the Court agreed that Lewis should not be penalized because of Bedford's failure to ensure that both parties assented to the agreement and that Bedford should take "full responsibility for its own contractual negligence." *Id.* at 1002.

Although the non-signing parties are reversed, the same principles which served as the basis of the Court's opinion in *Bedford* are applicable in the instant case. As a nursing home facility that is in the business of providing long-term care to its residents, Manhattan Nursing & Rehab undoubtedly has executed hundreds of arbitration provisions identical to the provision presented to and signed by Ira Simmons. Manhattan Nursing & Rehab is by no means unfamiliar with these types of agreements and the requirements that must be met in order for these agreements to be enforceable. This is obvious by the fact that at the end of the arbitration agreement, Manhattan Nursing & Rehab provided spaces for the signature of the nursing home

resident or their personal representative and an "authorized representative" of the nursing home. Ira and Elsie Simmons should not be penalized by being forced into a contract made invalid due to the negligence of Manhattan Nursing & Rehab. Manhattan Nursing & Rehab should take full responsibility for their contractual negligence, and this Court must find the arbitration agreement unenforceable and invalid due to a lack of mutual assent.

At best, defendant, Manhattan Nursing & Rehab is left to argue there may have been an offer to arbitrate which was never accepted. Further, that offer was withdrawn in writing by plaintiff through counsel with no acceptance ever having been communicated by the nursing home or anyone on its behalf. (R. 66).

III. Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendants/Appellants' motions to compel arbitration on the ground that Ira Simmons did not have the authority to bind Elsie Fidelia Simmons, Deceased, to arbitration.

Ira Simmons did not have the authority to waive Elsie Fidelia Simmons' right to a jury trial or any other constitutional right nor was Ira Simmons a health care surrogate for Elsie Simmons.

## A. Ira Simmons Lacked the Authority to Bind Elsie Fidelia Simmons to Arbitration

Even if the Court were to determine that there was mutual assent to the arbitration agreement by both parties, which plaintiff expressly denies, the purported agreement still must fail. There is no evidence before the Court that would demonstrate that plaintiff, Ira Simmons,

possessed the expressed or implied authority to bind his mother to arbitration. Manhattan Nursing & Rehab has cited only the power of attorney executed by Fidelia Simmons in favor of plaintiff as support for its contention that plaintiff had authority to execute such an agreement with a binding effect. This power of attorney relates only generally to its effect with regard to finances, real property, business affairs, and the like. The power of attorney is thus limited to the specific powers enumerated within the document. Not one of those powers comes anywhere close to touching upon waiving Fidelia Simmons' constitutional right to a jury trial.

Absent the existence of a durable power of attorney that specifically authorizes him to waive her constitutional rights or absent a court-ordered conservatorship, her son's signature is not binding on Elsie or her estate.

### B. The Uniform Health Care Decisions Act Mississippi Code Annotated §41-41211 Did Not Apply to the Arbitration Agreement at Issue

In a recent line of cases with facts very similar to the case at bar, both this Court and the Federal District Courts in the Northern District of Mississippi have addressed the validity of arbitration agreements binding nursing home residents signed by family members without the legal capacity to do so.

Recently, this Court issued its opinion in *Mississippi Care Center of Greenville, et al v. Hinyub*, 975 So.2d 211 (Miss. 2008). The case is directly on point as to the issue of whether Ira Simmons' signature on the admission documents created a valid arbitration agreement based upon the medical surrogate statute. In *Hinyub*, this Court considered the first prong of the well established two-prong test of whether the parties agreed to arbitrate, and found it unnecessary to consider the second prong when the first was not met. *Id*, at 7,12. The present case falls in to

the same category. In *Hinyub*, Mississippi Care Center contended that Nancy Hinyub had authority to bind her father in health care matters, including the agreement to arbitrate.

Mississippi Care Center relied upon a power of attorney executed by Hinyub's father, but not properly admitted into evidence or placed in to the record for this Court's review, and relied upon the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute, Miss.Code Ann. 41-41-211 (Rev. 2005).

Because no power of attorney appeared in the record and because no information appeared in the record that Hinyub's father lacked capacity to make his own health care decisions, this Court affirmed the lower court's denial of Mississippi Care Center's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

In the present case, the power of attorney in the record does not authorize Ira Simmons to bind his mother. Nor is there any evidence presented that Elsie Fidelia Simmons lacked capacity to make her own health care decisions. In particular, there is no evidence that a primary physician determined she lacked capacity. As to Ira Simmons' signature and the issue of whether he had authority to bind his mother, this Court should simply look to its clear reasoning in *Hinyub* and find Mr. Simmons' signature on the Admissions Documents to be of no consequence as regarding the issue of Arbitration.

In *Hinyub*, it was undisputed that the father had never signed an arbitration agreement. The present case is completely analogous, in that, the resident, Elsie Simmons did not sign the arbitration agreement. Mississippi Care Center essentially lost its bid to compel arbitration in *Hinyub* because they failed to produce evidence establishing a valid arbitration agreement. In Judge DeLaughter's Order Denying Binding Arbitration, Manhattan Nursing & Rehab lost its bid for the same reason. Manhattan Nursing & Rehab produced no evidence that Ms. Simmons signed the arbitration agreement. By failing to meet the "first prong"—that is, showing a valid

agreement to arbitrate--they gave Judge DeLaughter no chance to grant their motion or even to consider the underlying arguments of both sides as to procedural and substantive unconscionability.

This Court in *Hinyub* further determined that because the arbitration agreement expressly stated that signing was not a pre-condition to admissions or to the furnishing of services (just as it does in the case at bar) (R. 65), the arbitration agreement was not a healthcare decision which was covered under the surrogate statute. The Court thus concluded that the family member could not authorize arbitration as a healthcare surrogate where the surrogate statute did not apply.

As noted above, Mississippi Federal Courts have used the same reasoning as this Court in several cases in recent years. In *Mariner Healthcare, Inc. v. Green,* 2006 WL 1626581 (N.D. Miss), the District Court determined that agreements signed by family members without legal capacity to do so are only binding if the signor has been given agency authority to act on behalf of the resident. *Id.* Such agency authority can be express, implied, apparent or given by statute, and the existence of such agency must be proven by the nursing home defendant. *Id.* The nursing home defendants in *Green* did not meet their burden with regards to express or implied authority, as they provided no evidence that Green conveyed to her daughter any express or implied grant of authority. Although the nursing home defendants did provide evidence of past agreements signed by Green's daughter, the Court reiterated the ruling in prior cases that "apparent authority is to be determined only from the acts of the principal and requires reliance and good faith on the part of the third party." *Id.* With regards to statutory authority, Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211, the "Surrogate Statute", does grant surrogates the power to make "health-care decisions" for the resident. However, courts have determined that the signing of an arbitration

agreement is not a "healthcare decision" that qualifies under the statute. *Id.* See also *Guthrie*, Civil Action No. 5:04cv218-DCB-JCS.

The "Surrogate Statute" states that "A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available." Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-211. So for the statute to apply and for Ira Simmons to have had authority to bind Mrs. Simmons to the arbitration agreement, there must be evidence of a determination made by Mrs. Simmons primary physician that she was mentally incompetent. To date, no proof has been presented of any such finding by the primary physician of Elsie Simmons on or before the admission to the nursing home. Despite defendants/appellants allusions to the contrary plaintiff has made no statement in this litigation that constitutes any thing approaching and admission of incompetence of Elsie Simmons.

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